Minutes of the Licensing Sub-Committee 3

<u>Tuesday 17th June, 2014 at 10.15 am</u> <u>In the Council Chamber, The Council House, Dudley</u>

Present:-

Councillor D Russell (Chair)
Councillors K. Finch and R. James

Officers:-

R Clark (Legal Advisor), B Hughes (Licensing Enforcement Officer) and K Taylor (Democratic Services Officer) – All Directorate of Corporate Resources.

1 Declarations of Interest

No Member made a declaration of interest in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct.

2 Minutes

Resolved

That the minutes of the meeting of the Sub-Committee held on 6th May, 2014, be approved as a correct record and signed.

3 <u>Application to Vary a Premises Licence – The Hare and Hounds,</u> Wynall Lane, Stourbridge

A report of the Director of Corporate Resources was submitted on an application for variation of the premises licence in respect of the premises known as The Hare and Hounds, Wynall Lane, Stourbridge.

Mr P Robson (Solicitor); Mr R Webb (Operations Manager, Marstons PLC); Mr L Sergeant (Licensee), Ms W Wild (Supporter) and Miss R Smith (Supporter), were in attendance at the meeting.

Also in attendance and objecting to the application was Councillor R Body (Ward Member and local resident).

Following introductions, the Licensing Enforcement Officer presented the report on behalf of the Council.

Councillor Body then presented his representations, and in doing so stated that the main reasons he objected the application submitted, was the noise nuisance caused during the warm evenings whilst the windows in the rear room were opened, and that he had lived in a nearby street for over eighteen years.

It was noted that Councillor Body had visited a number of properties in close proximity of the premises, and it was evident that the residents were not aware of the proposed variation of the premises licence. He further stated that he could not identify a notice displayed at the premises, and that he circulated letters to local residents informing them of the applications, and the process should they wish to object.

Mr Robson then presented the case, on behalf of the applicant, and in doing so referred to comments made by Councillor Body in relation to a public notice highlighting the proposed variation; in responding he confirmed that Mr Sergeant had received advice from the Licensing Office in respect of the notice and the correct positioning.

Mr Robson further stated that the premises was part of the community and operated by demand, therefore Mr Sergeant submitted the application to offer existing customers a safe and enjoyable environment in order to prevent customers re-locating to another venue. It was noted that the application requested an additional hours trading on Friday and Saturday nights only, with the premises closing to the public thirty minutes thereafter.

Mr Robson confirmed that Mr Sergeant was the Designated Premises Supervisor and had extensive experience in the industry, and had been at the premises for over a year.

Mr Robson acknowledged the objections submitted by local residents, however it was evident that no objections had been received from other responsible authorities, including West Midlands Police and Environmental Health, which suggested that the premises was a positive influence.

Reference was made to concerns raised in relation to noise nuisance from customers, and Mr Robson stated that there were other premises in the local area and therefore the people who were causing the nuisance, might not have been customers of The Hare and Hounds.

Mr Robson referred to the concerns raised by Councillor Body in relation to the noise nuisance as a result of the windows being opened, and proposed a number of conditions, including closing the windows and doors after 11.30pm, that the Sub-Committee could attach to the premises licence to address the concerns raised.

In concluding, Mr Robson stated that residents could raise any concerns with Mr Sergeant, and that Mr Sergeant was willing to circulate his mobile number to the objectors.

In responding to a question by Councillor Body; Mr Robson and Mr Sergeant confirmed that the windows at the premises were double-glazed and a hook could be removed from the rear door to prevent the door being constantly opened.

In responding to a question by a Member in relation to whether Mr Sergeant expected additional customers should the application be granted, Mr Sergeant stated that he wished to maintain his existing customers only, and that he would not want to accept more customers after the current closing time.

Following comments made in relation to the issues raised in relation to noise nuisance, it was reported that there had been no official complaints received by the Council or to Mr Sergeant directly.

In responding to a question by the Chair, Mr Sergeant confirmed that there were air vents available in the rear room at the premises.

In responding to a question by the Legal Advisor, Mr Robson stated that Mr Sergeant would manage the rear of the premises, including the smoking area, and ask customers to be quiet and mindful of local residents. Mr Sergeant also reported that the door to the premises would be closed at 11.30pm, and relevant signage could be displayed by the exit in relation to noise.

In summing up, Councillor Body, on behalf of local residents, reiterated his comments made previously, and stated that the rooms at the premises were small and the noise nuisance increased during the warm evenings.

In summing up, Mr Robson, on behalf of the applicant, reiterated his comments made previously, and stated that the Sub-Committee's decision should be proportionate and appropriate to promote the Licensing Objectives, and requested that the application be granted. He reported that the conditions suggested by Mr Sergeant would address the concerns raised, in particular, those relating to noise nuisance.

The parties then withdrew from the meeting in order to enable the Sub-Committee to determine the application.

The Sub-Committee having made their decision invited the parties to return and the Chair then outlined the decision.

Resolved

That, subject to the below conditions being applied to the premises licence, the application for the variation of the premises licence in respect of The Hare and Hounds, Wynall Lane, Halesowen, be approved.

Reasons for Decision

This is an application by Marstons PLC for a variation in the Licensing hours of the Hare and Hounds, from 10.00am to Midnight on Friday and Saturday, until 1am on those days.

Local residents have made representations, opposing the additional hour on Fridays and Saturdays. Nine local residents in total have made representations. The main concerns raised are that the public house currently creates noise by way of music and voices up until midnight and after. There have been no complaints made formally to the Police or the Council about noise, or directly to the landlord, before this application. The applicant has put forward these conditions in order to address the concerns of local residents about noise from the pub and specifically its function room. The Sub-Committee takes account of the fact that there have been no complaints about noise with the current hours being to midnight, and that the conditions proposed address the noise issue specifically. The Sub-Committee attaches the following conditions to the premises licence and grants the application. They are:-

- (1) On Friday and Saturdays when live or recorded music are played, the doors and windows will be closed at 11.00pm, except the doors for access and egress.
- (2) Notices will be displayed prominently at all doors asking customers to leave the premises quietly and to respect local residents.
- (3) Throughout the evening on Friday and Saturdays when live or recorded music are played, a staff member will conduct an hourly tour of the pub, car park and beer garden, and record any noise problems, in order to address these. This record will be available to a Responsible Authority for inspection on request.

4 <u>Application for a Premises Licence – Johal's Convenience</u> <u>Store, 14A – 14B Enville Road, Kingswinford</u>

A report of the Director of Corporate Resources was submitted on an application for the grant of a premises licence in respect of Johal's Convenience Store, 14A – 14B Enville Road, Kingswinford.

Mr D Hardy (Representative), and Mrs S Johal (Licensee), together with her husband were in attendance at the meeting.

Also in attendance and objecting to the application were three local residents.

Following introductions, the Licensing Enforcement Officer presented the report on behalf of the Council.

A local resident then presented her representations, and in doing so stated that the location was a small village and there were a number of licensed premises within a close proximity. She stated that there was existing nuisance from members of the public consuming alcohol and anti-social behaviour at a nearby park by children who had purchased alcohol.

She further reported that local residents had not been informed about the premises and there were existing parking problems in the village.

In responding to a question by Mr Hardy, the residents confirmed that the issues raised had been an existing problem in the area.

Mr Hardy then presented the case, on behalf of the Applicant, and in doing so informed the Sub-Committee that Mr and Mrs Johal were very experienced and were aware of the area and demographics, which reflected in the application, submitted. He reported that measures would be implemented in the premises to address the concerns of the residents, including extensive CCTV to the inside and outside of the premises, and internal shutters to maintain the standard of the premises.

In concluding, Mr Hardy stated that the owners were distinguished for training their staff to a high standard, and confirmed that staff members would remove any litter in front of the store on a daily basis.

In responding to a question by a local resident in relation to the delivery of stock to the premises; Mr Hardy responded that the applicants would consider an appropriate time for the deliveries.

In summing up, the local residents stated that the main concerns were in respect of the deliveries to the premises.

In summing up, Mr Hardy, on behalf of the applicant, stated that he respected the petition submitted, however there had been no representations submitted by other responsible authorities such as West Midlands Police.

The parties then withdrew from the meeting in order to enable the Sub-Committee to determine the application.

The Sub-Committee having made their decision invited the parties to return and the Chair then outlined the decision.

Resolved

That the application for the grant of a premises licence in respect of Johal's Convenience Store, Enville Road, Kingswinford, be approved.

Reasons for Decision

This is an application by Sandip Johal for a premises licence for a shop, to be called Johal's Convenience Store, Enville Road, Kingswinford. The licensing hours sought are 7.00am to 10.00pm.

The Police have made no representations, and neither has any other Responsible Authority. However a petition has been signed by a number of local residents, opposing the grant. There appear to be fourteen names.

Local residents are concerned about the number of alcohol outlets in the area. This, however, is not a matter that the Sub-Committee can take into account. Local residents also raise concerns about current drinking and drunkenness in the area, and excessive litter on the pavement outside the shop. These issues however cannot be linked to this applicant, or this premise since it is currently closed and locked up.

To address the concerns of residents, the applicants state that they will install CCTV inside and outside the store, clear away all rubbish from the pavement outside the store daily, to install internal window shutters in the store to maintain the standard of the premises and be available to residents to listen to any concerns raised. They have also stated that they will consider the timing of any deliveries to the shop in view of the parking and limited access to the store.

The Sub-Committee therefore grants the application.

5 Application for Review of Premises Licence - The Convenience Store/Liquor World, Bromley Lane, Kingswinford

A report of the Director of Corporate Resources was submitted on an application for the review of the premises licence in respect of The Convenience Store/Liquor World, Bromley Lane, Kingswinford.

Mr P Samra, Premises Licence Holder and Designated Premises Supervisor was in attendance at the meeting, together with his Solicitor, Mr A Aleheart.

Also in attendance were Mr C King, Trading Standards Officer, and Mr G Wintrip, Age Restricted Products Enforcement Officer, both from the Directorate of the Urban Environment; Ms K Turley, Planning and Licensing Officer, and Detective Inspector W Bird, Public Protection Unit, West Midlands Police.

Following introductions by the Chair, the Licensing Enforcement Officer then presented the report on behalf of the Council.

Mr King then presented the representations of Trading Standards and in doing so highlighted that the grounds of the review had been based on the serious undermining of the two licensing objectives, namely, the prevention of crime and disorder and the protection of children from harm due to the poor management of the premises following the sale of alcohol to a person under the age of eighteen.

Mr King informed the Sub-Committee that on 5th March, 2013, a fifteen year old male child test purchaser had been sold alcohol from the premises contrary to section 146(1) of the Licensing Act 2003 and in direct contravention to the licensing objectives.

It was noted that complaints had been made on 12th December, 2011 and 4th January, 2012, in respect of underage sales at the premises.

On 16th January, 2012, an officer from Trading Standards carried out an advisory visit to the premises and spoke to Mr Samra, the Premises Licence Holder. The purpose of the visit was to provide advice in relation to preventing underage sales of age restricted products, and Mr Samra was given detailed advice including information in respect of acceptable proof of age and the importance of keeping a refusals register. Mr Samra also signed an Age Restricted Products form 0543 to acknowledge receipt of the information and advice.

It was noted that alcohol test purchase exercises were conducted at the premises on 17th February, 2012 and 18th May, 2012, with no sale being made.

Mr King reported that during the weekend of 7th July, 2012, an allegation was made to West Midlands Police, that a thirteen year old girl had been sold a "fake" 20cl bottle of Glens vodka. The vodka was taken to the Police for investigation, which confirmed that the vodka was genuine. The girl's parents declined to take the matter further.

On 12th July, 2012, an officer from Trading Standards carried out an advisory visit to the premises and spoke to Mr Samra, providing him with detailed advice and information in relation to preventing underage sales of age restricted products. Mr Samra was given an advice pack relating to the sale of age restricted products and was asked to ensure that all staff were aware of their obligations under the Licensing Act 2003. The pack contained an advice booklet, a challenge 25 poster, a refusals register, a proof of age poster and a sample PASS (proof of age) card. Mr Samra signed ARP form 0600 to acknowledge receipt of the pack.

It was noted that an alcohol test purchase exercise was conducted at the premises on 24th July, 2013, with no sale being made.

Mr King reported that a further advisory visit was undertaken at the premises on 25th July, 2013, and Mr Samra signed ARP form 0914 to acknowledge that the visit had taken place and the advice given. During the visit, officers located nine bottles of Glens vodka that were displaying counterfeit duty paid labels on the rear of the bottles, which were seized and Mr Samra given a Trader's Notice 0439 as a receipt. Following investigation, the manufacturer confirmed that the alcohol had been made for the export market and therefore must have been purchased on the black market. Mr Samra was issued a warning letter and the bottles were destroyed.

It was noted that on 20th February, 2014, information was received from West Midlands Police alleging that alcohol had been sold knowingly from the premises in May, 2013, to a sixteen year old. The alcohol was then supplied to a thirteen year old girl who became intoxicated and then subjected to a number of serious sexual assaults which were still under investigation by the Public Protection Unit.

On 5th March, 2014, Trading Standards together with West Midlands Police, carried out a test purchase exercise to determine compliance with the law on the sale of alcohol to children. On that occasion, a fifteen year old male child test purchase volunteer purchased a bottle of Smirnoff Ice with 4% alcohol by volume. The seller made no attempt to ask the age of the volunteer or proof of identification despite a "challenge 25" policy being in place.

Following the sale, and having returned to the premises, it was discovered that the individual who sold the alcohol to the test purchaser had been Mr Samra. When cautioned, Mr Samra made no reply.

On inspection of the premises, it was noted that there were several Age Restricted Products posters displayed including "challenge 25" in place, however there were no entries inputted in the Refusals Register. Mr Samra was then issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice.

Mr King further reported that whilst the officers were at the premises, an examination of the premises identified fourteen 70cl bottles of Glens vodka. It was noted that four of the bottles were displayed on the shelving behind the counter. The rest were found in a box under the counter, that were displaying counterfeit duty paid labels on the rear of the bottles. These were seized and Mr Samra given a Trader's Notice as a receipt.

Following investigation, the manufacturer confirmed that the alcohol had been made for the export market, but had been diverted and counterfeit duty paid labels stuck on the rear. Mr Samra was requested to produce invoices or receipts to cover the purchase of the illicit bottles by 14th March, 2014, however to date he had not submitted these, or made contact with Trading Standards to offer any explanation.

In concluding, Mr King stated that should the Sub-Committee be minded not to revoke or suspend the premises licence, they could consider including additional conditions to the licence. A full list of the proposed conditions had been circulated to all parties prior to the meeting.

Reference was made by Mr Aleheart in relation to the assault to a thirteen year old girl in May, 2013, in particular, that he had concerns that the allegation had been highlighted in the application for review of the premises licence, considering the allegation had taken place over twelve months ago. In responding, Mr King reported that the information had been received from West Midlands Police in February, 2014, however Mr Samra did fail the alcohol test purchase exercise undertaken on 5th March, 2014 that resulted in a sale being made.

Ms K Turley then presented the representations of West Midlands Police and in doing so informed the Sub-Committee that the Police had carried out checks on the Police systems and there had not been recent reports of crime or disorder at the premises or anti social behaviour attributed to the premises.

Ms Turley further stated that the sale of alcohol to a minor was a serious matter and supported the recommendations made by Trading Standards.

Detective Inspector Bird then presented her representations as she was the investigation officer for the assault of a thirteen-year-old girl in May, 2013, following the consumption of alcohol alleged to have been purchased at the premises. It was reported that the delays in commencing the investigating was due to the time in which the victim reported the assault.

Mr Aleheart referred to the alcohol test purchase exercise in July, 2013, two months following the assault, where there was no sale made, therefore it was evident that there were measures in place at the premises. He stated that the review of the premises licences was a licensing matter and that it was incorrect to link the assault and sale of alcohol together. In responding Detective Inspector Bird reported that although she considered that there was a link between the thirteen-year-old girl and the premises, she was unable to produce the evidence to the Sub-Committee.

Mr Aleheart made reference to the three successful test purchase exercises and the historic complaints received in 2011 and 2012, and in responding, Mr Wintrip stated that the application for review was balanced and included both positive and negative information in respect of the premises.

Reference was made to the proposed conditions, and Mr Aleheart asked Trading Standards if they considered that imposing the conditions, and additional conditions proposed by Mr Samra, would address the concerns raised. In responding, Mr Wintrip stated that the conditions depended on Mr Samra imposing the conditions correctly.

In responding to a question by a member in relation to the seizure of counterfeit alcohol in July, 2013 and the possible sanctions; Trading Standards confirmed that the manufacturer of the alcohol would not provide information, as the alcohol was genuine, therefore Trading Standards applied for a review of the premises licence. It was also noted that despite requests made to Mr Samra to provide information in relation to the purchase of the counterfeit goods, he had failed to do so.

In responding to a question by the Legal Advisor, Detective Inspector Bird stated that the CCTV at the premises had not been reviewed in relation to the assault in May, 2013, as the incident was historic, therefore was referred to Licensing.

Mr Aleheart then presented the case, on behalf of Mr Samra, and in doing so informed the Sub-Committee that it was accepted that there had been some failings and referred to the purchase of counterfeit goods, in particular, that although the alcohol was genuine, it had been purchased from a man who had entered the premises. It was noted that Mr Samra had a ultra-violet machine that projected a fluorescent light to identify UK Duty Stamps; and Mr Samra believed the bottles to be genuine but did admit that he had made a mistake.

Mr Aleheart reported that he had produced a credited training manual and record for staff and referred to various sections in the Licensing Act 2003, in particular, that there should be an appropriate response in order to promote the Licensing Objectives.

In concluding, Mr Aleheart stated that Mr Samra had accepted that he had made a mistake and was willing to do everything he could do to maintain his business.

In responding to a question by Mr King, Mr Samra confirmed that he had purchased the second batch of counterfeit goods from a van, in order to compete with other businesses, as it was cheaper, and it was evident that customers had stopped purchasing alcohol at the retail price in between the two seizures.

Reference was made to the lack of entries in the Refusals Register, and Mr Samra confirmed that the register had been overlooked and although refusals were made they were not logged.

In responding to comments made in relation to Mr Samra's failure to provide receipts to Trading Standards for the counterfeit alcohol, Mr Samra confirmed that the purchases were cash sales only, and that he submitted his receipts to his accountant on a quarterly basis.

In responding to a question by a member in relation to the sale of alcohol to a test purchase volunteer on 5th March, 2014, Mr Samra stated that he had been distracted as he was writing a stock record. Mr Samra acknowledged the health impacts on children who consumed alcohol.

The Legal Advisor made reference to the complaint received in 2011 by a Council employee who claimed that their child had been sold at the premises whilst underage; Mr Samra denied the sale had taken place as the staff would question customers, and stated that he had recently installed a till-prompt system that prompted staff members to challenge customers that appeared underage. Mr Samra also denied selling alcohol to a sixteen year old in May, 2013, and confirmed that he had CCTV installed at the premises.

In responding to a question by the Legal Advisor, Mr Samra confirmed that he could implement the conditions suggested immediately.

In responding to a question by the Chair, Mr Samra confirmed that there were three members of staff at the premises.

In summing up, Mr King, on behalf of Trading Standards, stated that the actions of Trading Standards had been proportionate considering the complaints received for the premises, and the main priority was to ensure that children were safe. In summing up, Mr Aleheart, on behalf of Mr Samra, reiterated his comments made previously, and stated that there had been no prosecutions in respect of the counterfeit alcohol and the decision made by the Sub Committee should be a proportionate response to the issues raised. Mr Aleheart suggested that the conditions proposed would address the concerns raised, and that should Mr Samra breach the conditions he would be brought back to the Sub-Committee which could result in his premises licence being revoked.

The parties then withdrew from the meeting in order to enable the Sub-Committee to determine the application.

The Sub-Committee having made their decision invited the parties to return and the Chair then outlined the decision.

Resolved

That, following careful consideration of the information contained in the report submitted, and as reported at the meeting, Mr P Samra be removed as the Designated Premises Supervisor in respect of the premises known as the Convenience Store/Liquor World, Bromley Lane, Halesowen.

The conditions listed below will also be attached to the premises licence.

Conditions

- (1) A written Proof of Age Policy (Challenge 25) is to be put in force, which all staff authorised to sell alcohol will be trained in and adhere to. Valid proof of identification will only include passport, photographic driving licence or a Proof of Age standards Scheme (PASS) proof of age card such as Citizen card. No other form of identification shall be accepted.
- (2) A4 notices to be displayed on the door to the premises and near the point of sale stating that it is an offence to buy alcohol for persons under the age of 18.
- (3) A Register of Refusals of Sale of Alcohol which indicates the date, time and reason for refusal will be operated and maintained at the premises. The Premises Licence Holder shall review the book once a week ensuring it is completed and up-to-date. The Premises Licence Holder will sign the record each time it is checked. This book shall be made available for inspection by an officer of any responsible authority.

- (4) CCTV to be in place at the premises and to be recording at all times when the premises are open for licensable activity, to the specifications of the West Midlands Police Crime Reduction Officer so that the alcohol display area and the point of sale area can be viewed. All images are to be recorded and kept for a minimum of 28 days and made available to any responsible authority upon request immediately, and all staff are to be trained and able to operate and download CCTV. The hard drive is to be locked but readily accessible to staff.
- (5) The Premises Licence Holder will take proportionate steps to review the premises CCTV on a weekly basis in order to identify persons under the age of 18 who are attempting to buy alcohol or persons over the age of 18 buying on their behalf. A record of these checks shall be maintained and be available for inspection upon request by an officer of any responsible authority.
- (6) All persons engaged to sell alcohol must complete a training programme, which includes a written test, to verify the competency of that person prior to them being authorised to sell alcohol.
- (7) The premises licence holder shall ensure that monthly reviews are conducted with any persons authorised to sell alcohol in order to reinforce training, promote best practice and policy. The monthly reviews will be recorded in writing.
- (8) A file shall be maintained at the premises for each person authorised to sell alcohol (with proof of identity which will be a copy of passport and/or driving licence). This file shall contain all training records for each person along with copies of monthly reviews as stated in point 7. This file shall be made available for inspection by any officer from a responsible authority upon request.
- (9) Any person who is suspected of purchasing alcohol for any person under the age of 18, shall be refused service.
- (10) All alcohol purchased for sale on the premises must only be purchased from a recognised, reputable and traceable wholesaler.

- (11) All alcohol purchased for sale on the premises must be covered by a receipt. The receipt will be on headed notepaper bearing the name, address and contact number of the supplier together with their VAT and company registration number where appropriate. These receipts will be kept in a file for a minimum of 2 years and must be made available for inspection, on demand, by an officer of a responsible authority.
- (12) A personal licence holder will be present at the premises before 09:00 and after 15:00 at all times that the premises are open to members for licensable activities.
- (13) No alcoholic drinks will be purchased from sellers calling at the premises.
- (14) A strict stock control system will be introduced so that the licensee can quickly identify where and when alcoholic drinks have been purchased.
- (15) An ultra-violet light will be available at the premises for the purpose of checking the UK Duty Stamp on all spirits as soon as practicable after they have been purchased.
- (16) If any of the spirits purchased have UK Duty Stamps which do not fluoresce under ultra-violet light or are otherwise suspicious, the licensee shall identify the supplier to the Trading Standards department and/or HMRC as soon as possible.
- (17) An electronic point of sale (EPOS) till system shall be used for all sales of alcohol with a prompt to remind staff members to check the age of the person attempting to purchase the alcohol.

Reasons for Decision

This review is brought by Trading Standards, as a result of an underage sale to a test purchaser, aged fifteen, on 5th March, 2014. Previous test exercises in 2012 and 2013 have not resulted in a sale. However, the sale on 5th March, 2014 was made by the Premises Licence Holder and Designated Premises Supervisor Mr Pubhinder Samra. Upon inspection there were no entries in the stores refusal register. He says he has now installed till software to prompt questioning of potential purchases.

In addition, on 25th July, 2013 Trading Standards found nine bottles of vodka on the premises which had evaded duty and should not be sold in UK premises. Despite having those bottles confiscated, and being given a warning notice, a further fourteen bottles of vodka were found on the premises on 5th March, 2014. These again had counterfeit duty labels on them. Mr Samra has not produced receipts for any of the bottles to prove that he purchased them from a reputable wholesaler. He did not have them and bought alcohol "out of the back of a van".

The Police have given evidence that a fifteen year old girl has stated that a sixteen year old friend who was known to the store, purchased alcohol and plied her with it. Mr Samra denies knowing this sixteen year old or making sales in December, 2011 and January, 2012 to young persons.

Mr Samra admitted that he purchased vodka from sources which did not give him proper receipts in order to make a profit and undercut competitors. He did this twice. He also admitted that he had not kept proper accounts for these purchases. Further he admitted that he was distracted when he made the underage sale in March 2014 as he was completing a stock record.

The Sub-Committee finds that although Mr Samra has made proposals today to attach conditions to his licence, to address some of these concerns, he has not managed the business and purchase and sale of alcohol responsibly to protect the public and children.

The Sub-Committee therefore takes the step of removing Mr Samra as the Designated Premises Supervisor. A new Designated Premises Supervisor will need to be appointed to manage the licence responsibly. The Sub-Committee accepts the imposition of the conditions put forward by trading standards, together with the additional six put forward by Mr Samra. It finds that these do address the issue of underage sales and the purchase of alcohol with counterfeit labels.

The meeting ended at 2.20 pm.

CHAIR